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INTRODUCTION 

1. Dauphin County proclaims that Fort Hunter Park “is not open 

to political activity—by anyone!” 

2. For more than 80 years, the Supreme Court has made clear 

that the First Amendment prohibits the government from banning 

political activity in public parks.  

3. On June 11, 2022, Plaintiffs Kevin Gaughen and David Kocur 

attempted to collect signatures from their neighbors to place Kocur on 

the general election ballot for state representative. Gaughen and Kocur 

selected Fort Hunter Park (the “Park”) for their efforts, a popular public 

park frequented by many, especially during the warm summer months.  

4. But Dauphin County Parks and Recreation Director Anthea 

Stebbins, flanked by park security, ordered them to stop, declaring that 

all political activity is banned in Fort Hunter Park. 

5. Dauphin County is wrong. “Streets, sidewalks, parks, and 

other similar public places are so historically associated with the exercise 

of First Amendment rights that access to them for the purpose of 

exercising such rights cannot constitutionally be denied broadly and 

absolutely.” Carey v. Brown, 447 U.S. 455, 460 (1980). 
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6. Nevertheless, Dauphin County claims a provision buried in 

the property-transfer documents from when the County acquired Fort 

Hunter Park more than 40 years ago allows the County to prohibit 

political activity on Park grounds.  

7. But the Supreme Court has made clear that the government 

cannot rely on property-conveyance restrictions to evade the commands 

of the Constitution. Evans v. Newton, 382 U.S. 296, 297 (1966). 

8. Gaughen and Kocur sent a letter via counsel advising 

Dauphin County of this long-standing Supreme Court precedent, 

expecting the County would quickly recognize the unconstitutionality of 

its ban on political activity and welcome them back to Fort Hunter Park.  

9. But the County refused, insisting Fort Hunter Park is not 

open to political activity “by anyone.” 

10. The First Amendment mandates that public parks be open to 

everyone for political activity. Gaughen and Kocur bring this lawsuit to 

protect their First Amendment rights so they can return to Fort Hunter 

Park and circulate petitions for Keystone Party candidates and discuss 

the party’s platform and values with Park visitors. 
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THE PARTIES 

Plaintiffs  

11. Plaintiff Kevin Gaughen is a United States citizen and a 

resident of Mechanicsburg, Pennsylvania. Gaughen is a Board Member 

of the Keystone Party. Formerly, he served as the Executive Director of 

the Pennsylvania Libertarian Party. After the Libertarian Party’s 

national platform changed in a way that no longer reflected his political 

views, Gaughen, along with other former Libertarians, formed the 

Keystone Party as an alternative for like-minded Pennsylvania voters 

and candidates for public office.  

12. Plaintiff David Kocur is a United States citizen and a resident 

of Harrisburg, Pennsylvania. Kocur was the Keystone Party’s 2022 

candidate for Pennsylvania House District 104, which covers portions of 

Dauphin and Lebanon counties. The 2022 election was Kocur’s first time 

running for public office.  

13. Gaughen and Kocur are suing because, contrary to the First 

Amendment, Defendants are preventing them from collecting ballot 

petition signatures and speaking with residents about the Keystone 

Party in Fort Hunter Park. 
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Defendants 

14. Defendant Dauphin County is an independent political 

subdivision of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, organized under 16 

Pennsylvania Statutes § 101 et seq. The Dauphin County Parks and 

Recreation Department is a department of Dauphin County and enforces 

the rules and regulations for the operation of Dauphin County’s 

recreational facilities, including Fort Hunter Park. See County of 

Dauphin, PA Ordinance #2-95. Dauphin County maintains an official 

policy, practice, and decision of prohibiting political activity in Fort 

Hunter Park. 

15. Defendant Anthea Stebbins is the Director of the Dauphin 

County Parks and Recreation Department. Director Stebbins is an 

employee of Dauphin County and is responsible for supervising Parks 

Department staff and implementing County policy. 

16. At all times relevant to the Complaint, Director Stebbins was 

acting under color of state law and is being sued in her individual 

capacity. 
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

17. This Court has federal question jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. 

§ 1331 and statutory jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1343 because 

Plaintiffs’ claims arise under the First and Fourteenth Amendments to 

the United States Constitution; the Civil Rights Act of 1871, 42 U.S.C. 

§§ 1983 and 1988; and the Declaratory Judgment Act, 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201–

02. 

18. Venue is proper in this judicial district under 28 U.S.C. 

§ 1391(b)(1) because at least one defendant resides within the Harrisburg 

Division of the Middle District of Pennsylvania. 

19. Venue is also proper in this judicial district under 28 U.S.C. 

§ 1391(b)(2) because a substantial part of the events or omissions giving 

rise to Plaintiffs’ claims occurred within the Harrisburg Division of the 

Middle District of Pennsylvania. 

20. Venue is also proper in this judicial district under Local Civil 

Rule 83.6.1 because the Harrisburg Division of the Middle District of 

Pennsylvania is the trial court nearest the scene of the principal event 

giving rise to Plaintiffs’ claims. 
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FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS 

Plaintiffs Engage in Political Expression as Part of 
Pennsylvania’s Electoral Process. 

21. On June 11, 2022, Gaughen accompanied Kocur to Fort 

Hunter Park to speak with fellow Pennsylvanians about the Keystone 

Party and to collect the signatures that Kocur and other Keystone Party 

candidates needed to appear on the general election ballot. 

22. In order to appear on the general election ballot representing 

a minor political party, Pennsylvania law requires candidates for the 

state House of Representatives to collect and submit 300 signatures from 

eligible voters. (25 Pa. Stat. § 2872.1(14); 25 Pa. Stat. § 2872.2; 25 Pa. 

Stat. § 2911.) 

Fort Hunter Park Is a Public Park in Dauphin County. 

23. Fort Hunter Park is a 40-acre public park along the 

Susquehanna River in Harrisburg, Pennsylvania. House District 104 

encompasses part of Harrisburg. 

24. Fort Hunter Park is part of the Dauphin County Parks and 

Recreation system.  

25. The Dauphin County Parks and Recreation Department is 

headquartered in Fort Hunter Park. 
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26. Pursuant to Dauphin County, PA Ordinance #2-95, “All 

County parks shall be open for public use on a year-round basis, unless 

otherwise designated.”  

27. Fort Hunter Park is open to the public daily from 8:00 a.m. 

until dusk.  

28. The Fort Hunter Park website encourages members of the 

public to “use the park as a backdrop for your engagement photos and 

family portraits.”  

29. Dauphin County allocates funds to Fort Hunter Park to assist 

with the operation and maintenance of the Park. For example, on 

February 23, 2022, the Dauphin County Board of Commissioners 

approved an allocation of $150,000 to the Dauphin County Parks and 

Recreation Department for the design and construction of a playground 

in Fort Hunter Park. 

Defendants Stopped Plaintiffs from Petitioning in Fort Hunter 
Park. 

30. On Saturday, June 11, 2022, the Dauphin County Parks and 

Recreation Department held its annual “Proudly PA!” event in Fort 

Hunter Park, featuring music by Pennsylvania artists as well as food and 

drink from local vendors.  
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31. Though the “Proudly PA!” event required a ticket, it occupied 

only a small part of the 40-acre Park, with other areas remaining open to 

the general public for normal use. 

32. On Saturday, June 11, 2022, Gaughen and Kocur arrived at 

Fort Hunter Park while the “Proudly PA!” event was underway. 

33. Gaughen and Kocur stood in an open area of the Park near 

the event entrance, discussing their petitions and the Keystone Party 

with other Park visitors.  

34. As part of their petitioning, Gaughen and Kocur discussed 

with Park visitors who Kocur and the other Keystone Party candidates 

are, what they stand for, what the Keystone Party is, what it stands for, 

and tried to convince them that Kocur and other Keystone Party 

candidates were worthy of support and inclusion on the ballot. 

35. About an hour into their efforts, a security guard approached 

Gaughen and Kocur and asked them what they were doing in the Park. 

Gaughen replied that they were collecting ballot petition signatures and 

speaking with Park visitors about the Keystone Party. 

36. The security guard responded that political activity is banned 

in Fort Hunter Park. 
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37. Gaughen politely informed the security guard that the First 

Amendment guarantees their right to engage in political activity in a 

public park. 

38. The guard left, telling Gaughen and Kocur that he would have 

to “verify” what Gaughen said with his supervisor. 

39. About ten minutes later, a second security guard approached 

Gaughen and Kocur.  

40. The second guard asked Gaughen and Kocur to leave Fort 

Hunter Park. 

41. Gaughen politely told the second security guard the same 

thing he told the first: the First Amendment guarantees their right to 

engage in political activity in a public park. 

42. The second guard left, telling Gaughen and Kocur that he 

would discuss the matter with the Director of the Dauphin County Parks 

and Recreation Department, Director Stebbins. Gaughen and Kocur 

resumed collecting signatures. 

43. About thirty minutes later, Director Stebbins approached 

Gaughen and Kocur, accompanied by the two security guards. 
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44. Director Stebbins told Gaughen and Kocur political activity is 

banned in Fort Hunter Park and ordered them to stop. 

45. Director Stebbins handed them a copy of the Indenture 

conveying Fort Hunter Park to Dauphin County in 1980. (Ex. A, 

Indenture.) 

46. According to the July 8, 1980 Indenture, the non-profit Fort 

Hunter Foundation conveyed Fort Hunter Park to Dauphin County “in 

trust, for use for historical, park and recreational purposes in accordance 

with the terms and conditions” set forth therein in exchange for one 

dollar, a promise to continue operating the museum on the property, and 

rent for the maintenance of recreational buildings. (Ex. A at 1.) 

Defendants Maintain a Policy Prohibiting All Political Activity 
in a Public Park. 

47. Director Stebbins directed Gaughen’s and Kocur’s attention 

to pages 11 and 12 of the Indenture and claimed that the provision 

provides Dauphin County authority to ban political activity in Fort 

Hunter Park. 

48. The provision relied upon by Director Stebbins reads: 

No part of the net earnings of this Trust shall inure or be 
payable to or for the benefit of any individual and no 
substantial part of the activities of this Trust shall be the 
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carrying on of propaganda, or otherwise attempting to 
influence legislation. No part of the activities of this Trust 
shall be the participation in, or intervention in (including 
the publishing or distributing of statements), any political 
campaign of any candidate for public office. 
 

(Ex. A at 11–12.) 
 

49. Instructed by Director Stebbins that Fort Hunter Park 

prohibits political activity, and asked by Park security to leave because 

they had been engaging in political activity, Gaughen and Kocur followed 

the instructions and departed the Park. 

50. Had Director Stebbins not intervened on June 11, Gaughen 

and Kocur would have continued to collect ballot signatures from Park 

visitors, speak with them about the Keystone Party, and solicit support 

for Keystone Party candidates and values, and would have returned to 

the Park on later dates to do the same before and after the November 

2022 election.  

51. On December 22, 2022, the Keystone Party nominated a 

candidate for Justice of the Pennsylvania Supreme Court in anticipation 

of the November 2023 election.  

52. In order to appear on the general election ballot for Justice of 

the Supreme Court representing a minor political party, Pennsylvania 
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law requires candidates to collect and submit 1,000 signatures. (25 Pa. 

Stat. § 2872.1(9); 25 Pa. Stat. § 2872.2; 25 Pa. Stat. § 2911.) 

53. But for Dauphin County’s policy banning political activity in 

Fort Hunter Park, Gaughen and Kocur would return to the Park to speak 

to visitors about the Keystone Party, solicit support for the Keystone 

Party, and collect ballot petition signatures for Keystone Party 

candidates in the Supreme Court and other races.  

54. Solely because of Dauphin County’s policy that political 

activity is banned in Fort Hunter Park and Director Stebbins’s 

enforcement of that policy, neither Gaughen nor Kocur have returned to 

Fort Hunter Park to engage in political activity since June 11, 2022. 

55. Defendants’ ban on political activity in Fort Hunter Park and 

the accompanying order to Gaughen and Kocur to cease petitioning and 

discussing political matters with Park visitors violated Gaughen’s and 

Kocur’s First Amendment rights.  

56. On October 13, 2022, Plaintiffs, through undersigned counsel, 

sent a letter to Defendants describing the events of June 11, 2022, citing 

the binding authority establishing Plaintiffs’ First Amendment right to 

engage in political activity in a public park, and demanding that Dauphin 
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County cease enforcing its unconstitutional prohibition on political 

activity in Fort Hunter Park. (Ex. B, Oct. 13, 2022 Demand Letter.) 

57. On October 19, 2022, Defendants responded with a letter from 

their counsel, confirming that Dauphin County maintains a policy 

banning political activity in Fort Hunter Park and will continue enforcing 

the same. (Ex. C, Oct. 19, 2022 Response Letter.) 

58. The letter states, “Fort Hunter Park is not open to political 

activity—by anyone! This has long been the policy of the Dauphin County 

Commissioners and their Parks and Recreation Department.” (Id. at 3.) 

INJURY TO PLAINTIFFS 

59. Director Stebbins’s actions in prohibiting Gaughen and Kocur 

from collecting ballot petition signatures and discussing the Keystone 

Party with Park visitors damaged Gaughen and Kocur by depriving them 

of their constitutional right to engage in political activity in the 

traditional public forum of a public park, entitling Gaughen and Kocur 

to monetary damages. 

60. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ policy and 

actions, Plaintiffs have suffered and continue to suffer irreparable injury, 
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including being deprived of their constitutional right to free speech. 

Plaintiffs are entitled to prospective injunctive relief. 

61. Because of Dauphin County’s policy prohibiting political 

activity in Fort Hunter Park, and Defendant Stebbins’s enforcement of 

that policy, Plaintiffs are unable to return to Fort Hunter Park to speak 

with fellow Pennsylvanians about the Keystone Party, solicit support for 

the Party, and gather signatures for Party candidates in future elections. 

62. The denial of constitutional rights is an irreparable injury per 

se. Elrod v. Burns, 427 U.S. 347, 373 (1976). 

63. Plaintiffs have no adequate legal, administrative, or other 

remedy by which to prevent or minimize the continuing irreparable harm 

to their First Amendment rights. 

64. Without declaratory and injunctive relief from this Court, 

Defendants’ unconstitutional policy and actions will continue and 

Plaintiffs will suffer irreparable harm indefinitely. 
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CAUSES OF ACTION 

FIRST CLAIM 
Violation of First Amendment (Damages) 

42 U.S.C. § 1983 
(All Plaintiffs against Defendant Stebbins in her individual 

capacity) 
 

65. Plaintiffs re-allege and re-incorporate the preceding 

paragraphs as though fully set forth herein. 

66. The First Amendment provides that “Congress shall make no 

law . . . abridging the freedom of speech, or of the press; or of the right of 

the people peaceably to assemble, and to petition the Government for a 

redress of grievances.” U.S. Const. Amend. I. 

67. Speaking with others about matters addressed by a petition 

and attempting to persuade them to sign the petition is protected by the 

free speech clause of the First Amendment. 

68. Circulating petitions “involves the type of interactive 

communication concerning political change that is appropriately 

described as ‘core political speech.’” Meyer v. Grant, 486 U.S. 414, 421–22 

(1988).  
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69. Gathering signatures “involves both the expression of a desire 

for political change and a discussion of the merits of the proposed 

change.” Id. at 421.  

70. Speaking with others about matters of political and social 

concern is protected by the free speech clause of the First Amendment. 

71. Public parks are “traditional” or “quintessential” public 

forums under the First Amendment. Parks “have immemorially been 

held in trust for the use of the public, and, time out of mind, have been 

used for purposes of assembly, communicating thoughts between 

citizens, and discussing public questions.” Perry Educ. Ass’n v. Perry Loc. 

Educators’ Ass’n, 460 U.S. 37, 45 (1983) (quoting Hague v. CIO, 307 U.S. 

496, 515 (1939)). 

72. Fort Hunter Park is a public park and therefore a traditional 

public forum. 

73. Director Stebbins violated Gaughen’s and Kocur’s First 

Amendment rights by prohibiting them from gathering ballot signatures 

and discussing political matters with other Fort Hunter Park visitors. 

74. In a traditional public forum, the government may impose 

only content-neutral time, place, or manner restrictions on First 
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Amendment activity, provided that the restrictions are justified without 

reference to the content of the regulated speech, that they are narrowly 

tailored to serve a significant governmental interest, and leave open 

ample alternative channels for communication of the information. Ward 

v. Rock Against Racism, 491 U.S. 781, 791 (1989).  

75. Prohibiting political activity in Fort Hunter Park constitutes 

impermissible content discrimination under the First Amendment 

because the ban targets a particular subject—politics—for unequal 

treatment. 

76. Prohibiting political activity in Fort Hunter Park is not 

narrowly tailored because it prohibits all political expression and activity 

in the Park, no matter its manner, location, or duration. 

77. There is no compelling state interest in prohibiting political 

activity in a public park. 

78. There are no alternate avenues for Pennsylvanians to engage 

in political activity in Fort Hunter Park. 

79. Using governmental authority to categorically bar political 

activity in a public park is an obvious constitutional violation. 
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80. It is clearly established that circulating a petition is “core 

political speech” where “First Amendment protections” are “at [their] 

zenith.” Meyer, 486 U.S. at 425. 

81. It is clearly established that “there cannot be a blanket 

exclusion of First Amendment activity from a municipality’s open streets, 

sidewalks, and parks.” Greer v. Spock, 424 U.S. 828, 835 (1976). 

82. It is clearly established that the government cannot use 

restrictions imposed by a conveyance of property from private to public 

hands to evade the commands of the Constitution. Evans, 382 U.S. at 

297. 

83. It is clearly established that the government cannot 

discriminate against political speech unless necessary to serve a 

compelling state interest and the action is narrowly tailored to serve that 

interest. Reed v. Town of Gilbert, 576 U.S. 155, 163 (2015).  

84. At all times relevant, Director Stebbins had fair warning and 

was or should have been aware that her actions were unconstitutional. 

85. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant Stebbins’s 

actions, Plaintiffs were deprived of their constitutional rights to freedom 

of speech. As a legal consequence of Defendant Stebbins’s violation of 
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Plaintiffs’ First Amendment rights, Plaintiffs are entitled to damages 

from Defendant Stebbins in her individual capacity. 

86. Director Stebbins’s conduct recklessly and callously 

disregarded and was indifferent to Plaintiffs’ rights because she acted 

with the intent to suppress Plaintiffs’ speech. Accordingly, punitive 

damages are appropriate and necessary to punish Director Stebbins for 

abridging Plaintiffs’ constitutional rights and to deter similar violations 

in the future. 

SECOND CLAIM 
Monell Claim for Violation of First Amendment 

42 U.S.C. § 1983 
(All Plaintiffs against Defendant Dauphin County) 

87. Plaintiffs re-allege and re-incorporate the preceding 

paragraphs as though fully set forth herein. 

88. Director Stebbins’s actions violated Plaintiffs’ constitutional 

rights for the reasons stated in Claim I. 

89. Director Stebbins acted pursuant to an officially promulgated 

policy, practice, and decision by Dauphin County to prohibit political 

activity in Fort Hunter Park. 
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90. On October 13, 2022, Dauphin County confirmed that its 

official policy, practice, and decision is to prohibit political activity in Fort 

Hunter Park. (Ex. C.) 

91. In the October 13, 2022 letter, Dauphin County confirmed 

that Director Stebbins’s actions—prohibiting Gaughen and Kocur from 

engaging in political activity in Fort Hunter Park—were “consistent with 

clear direction given to her” by the County. (Id. at 4.) 

92. Because Director Stebbins’s actions constituted the 

enforcement of an official policy, practice, and decision of Dauphin 

County, Dauphin County is responsible for Director Stebbins’s 

constitutional violations under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 pursuant to Monell v. 

Dep’t of Soc. Servs. of City of New York, 436 U.S. 658 (1978). 

93. As a direct and proximate result of Dauphin County’s actions, 

Plaintiffs were deprived of their constitutional rights to freedom of 

speech. As a legal consequence of Dauphin County’s violation of 

Plaintiffs’ First Amendment rights, Plaintiffs are entitled to damages 

from Dauphin County. 
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THIRD CLAIM 
Violation of First Amendment (Injunctive and Declaratory 

Relief) 
42 U.S.C. § 1983 

(All Plaintiffs against Defendant Dauphin County) 
 

94. Plaintiffs re-allege and re-incorporate the preceding 

paragraphs as though fully set forth herein. 

95. Dauphin County enforces an official policy, practice, and 

decision of prohibiting political activity in Fort Hunter Park, as 

evidenced by Director Stebbins barring Gaughen and Kocur from 

continuing to circulate a political petition and discuss the Keystone Party 

with Park visitors on June 11, 2022. 

96. Dauphin County’s official policy, practice, and decision of 

prohibiting political activity in Fort Hunter Park constitutes an unlawful 

abridgment of the First Amendment right to freedom of speech as 

explained in Claim I. 

97. Dauphin County’s policy, practice, and decision of prohibiting 

political activity in Fort Hunter Park constitutes an ongoing abridgment 

of Plaintiffs’ First Amendment free speech rights as explained in Claim I. 
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98. Dauphin County’s policies, practices, and decisions constitute 

unlawful content discrimination under the First Amendment for the 

reasons stated in Claim I.  

99. Plaintiffs are entitled to a declaration under 28 U.S.C. § 2201 

that Dauphin County’s practice, policy, and decision of prohibiting 

political activity in Fort Hunter Park constitutes unlawful suppression 

of Plaintiffs’ First Amendment right to freedom of speech. 

100. Plaintiffs are entitled to a declaration under 28 U.S.C. § 2201 

that Dauphin County’s practice, policy, and decision of prohibiting 

political activity in Fort Hunter Park constitutes unlawful content 

discrimination under the First Amendment. 

101. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ policy and 

actions, Plaintiffs have suffered and continue to suffer irreparable injury, 

including being deprived of their constitutional rights to free speech. 

Plaintiffs are entitled to prospective injunctive relief against Defendant 

Dauphin County. 

102. But for Defendant Dauphin County’s policy prohibiting 

political activity in Fort Hunter Park, Plaintiffs would return to Fort 

Hunter Park to speak to fellow Pennsylvanians about the Keystone 
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Party, solicit support for the Keystone Party, and gather signatures for 

Keystone Party candidates in future elections. 

103. Without declaratory and injunctive relief, Dauphin County’s 

suppression of Plaintiffs’ First Amendment right to peacefully petition 

and discuss political matters in a public park will continue and Plaintiffs 

will suffer per se irreparable harm indefinitely. 

104. Without declaratory and injunctive relief, Dauphin County’s 

content discrimination against Plaintiffs’ speech will continue and 

Plaintiffs will suffer per se irreparable harm indefinitely. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs Gaughen and Kocur respectfully request 

that this Court enter judgment against Defendants and issue the 

following forms of relief: 

A. Enter a preliminary and permanent injunction enjoining 

Defendants from enforcing a ban on political activity in Fort Hunter 

Park; 

B. Declare that Defendants’ ban on political activity in Fort 

Hunter Park violates the First Amendment; 
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C. Award Plaintiffs compensatory (Claims I and II) and punitive 

(Claim I) damages; 

D. Award Plaintiffs their attorney’s fees under 42 U.S.C. § 1988; 

E. Award Plaintiffs their costs; and 

F. Award such other relief as the Court deems appropriate. 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

In compliance with Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 38, Plaintiffs 

demand a trial by jury on all issues so triable. 

DATED:   January 16, 2023 

 Respectfully submitted, 
 
/s/ Jeffrey D. Zeman 
JEFFREY D. ZEMAN  
PA Bar No. 328570 
CONOR T. FITZPATRICK* 
MI Bar No. P78981 
FOUNDATION FOR INDIVIDUAL 

RIGHTS AND EXPRESSION 
510 Walnut Street; Suite 1250 
Philadelphia, PA 19106 
Tel: (215) 717-3473 
jeff.zeman@thefire.org 
conor.fitzpatrick@thefire.org 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
*Pro Hac Vice Motion forthcoming  
 

 

Case 1:23-cv-00077-SES   Document 1   Filed 01/16/23   Page 25 of 27



Case 1:23-cv-00077-SES   Document 1   Filed 01/16/23   Page 26 of 27



VERIFICATION OF DAVID KOCUR

Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746, I, DAVID KOCUR, declare as follows:

1. I am aPlainti鮮inthepresentcase and acitizenofthe

United States of America.

2. I have read the foregoingVerified Complaint.

3. I have personal knowledge ofthe factual allegations in

ParagraPhs l, 3, 4, 6, 8-10, 12, 13, 21, 23, 30-51, 53, 54, 56-58, 60, 61,

91, and lO2 ofthe Ver龍ed Complaint and know them to be true.

4. I verify under penalty ofperJury that the foregoing is true

and correct.

Ex。。ut。d 。n January旦2023

DAVID KOCUR

26

Case 1:23-cv-00077-SES   Document 1   Filed 01/16/23   Page 27 of 27



Verified Complaint - Exhibit List 
  

Gaughen, et al. v. Dauphin County, et al. 
Middle District of Pennsylvania 

  

Exhibit Description 

A 
Indenture conveying Fort Hunter Park 

from Fort Hunter Foundation to Dauphin 
County 

B October 13, 2022 Demand Letter from 
Plaintiffs’ Counsel 

C October 19, 2022 Response Letter from 
Defendants’ Counsel 
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Gaughen, et al. v. Dauphin County, et al.

Exhibit A
to Verified Complaint for 

Civil Rights Violations
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510 Walnut Street, Suite 1250  Philadelphia, PA 19106
phone: 215-717-3473  Fax: 215-717-3440

thefire.org 

October 13, 2022

Sent Via FedEx Overnight Shipping and Email 
Mike Pries, Dauphin County Board of Commissioners Chairman 
Chad Saylor, Dauphin County Board of Commissioners Vice Chairman 
George P. Hartwick, III, Dauphin County Board of Commissioners Secretary 
Dauphin County Commissioners Office 
2 South Second Street, 4th Floor 
Harrisburg, PA 17101 
mpries@dauphinc.org 
csaylor@dauphinc.org 
ghartwick@dauphinc.org 

Re: Prohibition on Political Activity in Fort Hunter Park 

Dear Commissioners: 

The Foundation for Individual Rights and Expression (FIRE)1 is deeply 
concerned by a recent incident in which Dauphin County Parks and Recreation 
Director Anthea Stebbins prohibited Pennsylvanians, including our clients Kevin 
Gaughen and Dave Kocur, from peacefully exercising their core First Amendment 
rights in Fort Hunter Park.  

Mr. Gaughen is a board member of Pennsylvania’s Keystone Party, a newly 
formed political party. Mr. Kocur is the Keystone Party’s candidate for 
Pennsylvania House District 104. On Saturday, June 11, 2022, Mr. Gaughen and 
Mr. Kocur arrived at Fort Hunter Park intending to collect signatures to place Mr. 
Kocur on the ballot for November’s general election. Two security guards 
approached Mr. Gaughen and Mr. Kocur and instructed them to leave the park 
because they were engaging in “political” activity. Mr. Gaughen and Mr. Kocur 
respectfully declined to leave, citing their First Amendment right to peacefully 
engage in political speech and petition activity in a public park. But Director 
Stebbins arrived and ordered them to cease collecting signatures, telling the pair 
that “no political activity” is permitted in Fort Hunter Park.  

1 FIRE is a nonpartisan, nonprofit organization dedicated to defending the individual rights of 
all Americans to free speech and free thought—the essential qualities of liberty. 
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Director Stebbins’s actions violated the First Amendment. The Supreme 
Court has clearly established that the “public retain[s] strong free speech rights 
when they venture into public streets and parks, ‘which have immemorially been 
held in trust for the use of the public and, time out of mind, have been used for 
purposes of assembly, communicating thoughts between citizens, and discussing 
public questions.’” Pleasant Grove City, Utah v. Summum, 555 U.S. 460, 469 (2009) 
(quoting Perry Ed. Ass’n v. Perry Loc. Educators’ Ass’n, 460 U.S. 37, 45 (1983)). 
“[T]he circulation of a petition involves the type of interactive communication 
concerning political change that is appropriately described as ‘core political 
speech.’” Meyer v. Grant, 486 U.S. 414, 421–22 (1988). Mr. Gaughen and Mr. Kocur 
had every right to be in a public park on a Saturday peacefully collecting 
signatures for their political cause.  

In ejecting our clients from the park, Director Stebbins pointed to language 
in the indenture conveying the park in trust to Dauphin County as purportedly 
banning political activity in the park. Director Stebbins is wrong. The indenture 
provides in pertinent part on pages 11–12: 

No part of the net earnings of this Trust shall inure or be payable to or 
for the benefit of any individual and no substantial part of the activities 
of this Trust shall be the carrying on of propaganda, or otherwise 
attempting to influence legislation. No part of the activities of this 
Trust shall be the participation in, or intervention in (including the 
publishing or distributing of statements), any political campaign of any 
candidate for public office.2 

By its plain text, the indenture prohibits the Trust from engaging in 
political activity (unsurprising, considering the Trust is managed by a 501(c)(3) 
organization). It does not prohibit the public from using the park to peacefully 
petition their neighbors.  

Even if Director Stebbins were interpreting the indenture correctly, her 
actions still violate the First Amendment. The Supreme Court long ago made clear 
that the government may not rely on property conveyance restrictions to evade 
the commands of the Constitution. Evans v. Newton, 382 U.S. 296, 297 (1966) 
(holding the Fourteenth Amendment barred enforcement of a “for white people 
only” condition in a will devising property to the government for use as a park); 
see also Marsh v. Alabama, 326 U.S. 501, 506 (1946) (“The more an owner, for his 

2 Emphasis added. A copy of the indenture is enclosed. 
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advantage, opens up his property for use by the public in general, the more do his 
rights become circumscribed by the statutory and constitutional rights of those 
who use it”).  

 
Dauphin County’s prohibition on political activity in Fort Hunter Park is an 

ongoing violation of our clients’ First Amendment right to peacefully engage in 
political activity in a public park. At Director Stebbins’s instruction, Mr. Gaughen 
and Mr. Kocur have not returned to the park to engage in political activity. They 
would, however, like to return to Fort Hunter Park to solicit support for the 
Keystone Party before and after the November general election. Unless and until 
Dauphin County ceases this unconstitutional abridgment of Pennsylvanians’ First 
Amendment rights, they cannot.  
 

Please provide confirmation no later than the close of business on 
Wednesday, October 19, 2022, that Dauphin County has ceased enforcing its 
prohibition on engaging in political activity inside Fort Hunter Park. If we do not 
receive such confirmation, FIRE will commence litigation and seek the full array 
of remedies including punitive damages and attorney’s fees. 
 

Thank you for your prompt attention to this matter. Please do not hesitate 
to contact me with any questions. 
 
 

Sincerely, 

 
Conor T. Fitzpatrick* 
Attorney 
Jeffrey D. Zeman** 
Staff Attorney 
FOUNDATION FOR INDIVIDUAL RIGHTS  
 AND EXPRESSION 
510 Walnut Street, Suite 1250 
Philadelphia, PA 19106 
Tel: (215) 717-3473 
conor.fitzpatrick@thefire.org 
jeff.zeman@thefire.org 
 
*Member of the Michigan bar. 
**Member of the Pennsylvania bar. 
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cc: Joseph A. Curcillo, III, Esq., Chief Solicitor, Dauphin County Solicitor’s 

 Office, via FedEx Overnight and email to jcurcillo@dauphinc.org 
 

Anthea Stebbins, Director Dauphin County Parks and Recreation 
Department, via FedEx Overnight and email to 
astebbins@dauphincounty.gov 

  
Encl.  
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